RECEIVED

Jul 21 2026

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Jessica A. Salvini, Circuit Court Judge**

**Appellate Case No. 2025-001404
Circuit Court Case No. 2024-CP-39-00465**

**David Griffith and William Coleman, as Trustee of the William Coleman Revocable Trust,
individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated, Respondents,**

v.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether arbitration agreements contained within construction contracts involve interstate commerce, and are therefore enforceable under the Federal Arbitration Act, where the construction involved multiple out-of-state contractors and the transportation of labor and materials across state lines, and the prospective homeowners selected personalized options to customize their homes, revealing the essential character of the parties' transaction to be construction, as opposed to the sale of a completed dwelling.

2. Whether arbitration provisions—when considered in isolation as required by South Carolina law—could be considered unconscionable in circumstances where the rights to arbitration are mutual, there are no exclusions to the scope of arbitrability, and the provisions related to the scope of arbitral issues are customary and commonplace.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Patrick Square Residential Community and the Parties.

Patrick Square is a residential subdivision in Pickens County, South Carolina, comprised of approximately 371 dwelling units, including single family homes, paired homes, and town homes. (R. p. 18, ¶ 1; p. 190, ¶ 4). Patrick Square was developed by the Appellants—JMC Communities, Inc. (“JMCC”) provided administrative and management support; JMC Homes of South Carolina, LLC (“JMC Homes”) acted as the general contractor and builder for approximately 236 of the approximately 265 single family homes; and Patrick Square, LLC f/k/a Digital Development, LLC (“PSL”) acted as the seller of the homes built by JMC Homes. (R. pp. 190–191, ¶¶ 6–8). (JMCC, JMC Homes, and PSL are collectively referred to herein as the “Developer Defendants” or the “Appellants.”)

On or about November 7, 2016, JMC Homes entered into an “Owner/Builder Agreement” with William Coleman and Deborah Coleman, in their individual capacities (the “Coleman Construction Agreement”). (R. p. 191, ¶ 10; pp. 80–90). Under the Coleman Construction Agreement, JMC Homes, on behalf of the Developer Defendants, agreed to construct a single-family home on Lot No. 235 for the price of \$364,190. (R. p. 80, §§ 1–2; p. 191, ¶10).¹

On or about December 20, 2018, JMC Homes entered into an “Owner/Builder Agreement” with David Griffith (the “Griffith Construction Agreement”). (R. p. 191, ¶ 11; pp. 92–103). Under the Griffith Construction Agreement, JMC Homes, on behalf of the Developer Defendants, agreed

¹ The only deed in the record relating to Lot 235 indicates that PSL conveyed Lot No. 235 to “Deborah C. Coleman, Trustee of the Deborah C. Coleman Revocable Trust, dated the 20th day of January, 2012, her heirs and assigns forever.” (R. p. 129). The connection between the Deborah C. Coleman Revocable Trust (which is not a party) and the William Coleman Revocable Trust (one of the Respondents) is not made clear in the record. In all events, Mr. and Ms. Coleman, in their individual capacities, signed the Coleman Construction Agreement. (R. pp. 80–90, at p. 86).

to construct a single-family home on Lot No. 277 for the price of \$375,560. (R. p. 92, §§ 1–2; p. 191, ¶ 11).

B. The Construction Agreements.

The Coleman Construction Agreement and the Griffith Construction Agreement (the “Construction Agreements”) are not identical. However, they both make clear that their general intent and purpose was to set out the terms by which the Developer Defendants would construct single family homes. Moreover, the Construction Agreements not only afford the prospective residents with options for the custom construction of their respective homes, but they also contain agreements to arbitrate disputes arising from or related to the Construction Agreements.

A. The Construction Agreements Set Out the Terms by the Which Developer Defendants Would Construct Single Family Homes.

Section 1 of the Construction Agreements describes the “Scope of Work,” to include the “furnish[ing of] all the materials and labor to perform all of the work necessary for the construction through completion and delivery of a single family residential home.” (R. p. 80, § 1; p. 92, § 1). Sections 2 and 3 of the Construction Agreements lay out a construction schedule and issues relating to potential construction delays, respectively. (R. p. 81, §§ 3–4; p. 93, §§ 3–4). In particular, Section 3 of the Construction Agreements provides that construction will commence only after execution of the Construction Agreement or the closing on the lot, and it requires the builder to use its best efforts to complete the residence within approximately 150 days from the start of construction. (R. p. 81, § 3; p. 93, § 3). And Sections 5 and 6 of the Construction Agreements describe the specific construction plans and specifications, together with the applicable construction standards. (R. p. 81, §§ 5–6; p. 93, §§ 5–6).

Under section 14 of the Construction Agreements, the prospective residents agreed that the builder—JMC Homes—was “entitled to select the subcontractors, employees, and suppliers who

will work on or provide material to the Home.” (R. p. 83, § 14; p. 95, § 14). Consistent with this discretion, JMC Homes hired subcontractors to work on the Patrick Square residential development project that were from states other than South Carolina, and materials were transported across state lines in order to carry out the construction. (R. p. 191, ¶¶ 14–15; pp. 21–25, ¶¶ 28–53).

B. Options and Choices for Custom Construction.

The Construction Agreements provide that the respective single-family homes “will be constructed substantially in accordance with the floor plan, elevation, standard features, *custom features*, and other applicable drawings and specifications described in the Plans and Specifications *subject to substitutions, modifications, and change orders authorized by this Agreement.*” (R. p. 81, § 5 (emphasis added); R. p. 93, § 5 (emphasis added)). Section 8 of the Construction Agreements then sets out some of the custom designs the prospective residents choose and select for their single-family homes:

8. **Selections & Change Orders.** Owner agrees to make all necessary selections for exterior colors, interior finishes, electrical outlet locations, and lighting locations within forty-five (45) days from the effective date of this agreement. Owner also agrees to make all decorative lighting fixture selections and to review and approve the landscaping design within seven (7) days after the rough-in electrical work is completed. Any and all upgrades or modifications to the standard plan and included finishes will also be made within 45 days of the effective date of this agreement and shall be payable to Builder at the time the change order is signed. Selections or changes or upgrades made by Owner shall be final unless the selected item or color becomes unavailable to Builder and Builder requests Owner to make an alternative selection. If Owner fails to make any selection within the timeframe specified herein, the Builder may, at Builder’s option, make the selection on Owner’s behalf without further notice. Builder makes no representation about any color selected by Owner, but will use best and reasonable efforts to install colors as close as possible to those selected.

If Owner and Builder agree to any change in the Plans and Specifications or standard selections following execution of this Agreement, such change, and its cost, shall be set forth in a written change order signed by Owner and Builder. The cost of each change shall be added to the total price of the Residence and shall be payable to Builder at the time the change order is signed. Owner understands that certain items and improvements are subject to design change by the manufacturer and subject to changes in color and gradations and may vary from any samples that may be shown or specified on the plans made available to Owner. No subcontractor or supplier is authorized to agree to a change on behalf of Builder.

(R. p. 82, § 8; p. 94, § 8). Exhibit B to the Construction Agreements, titled “Construction Draw Schedule,” sets out a schedule of payments to be made to JMC Homes by the prospective residents. (R. p. 90, Exh. B; p. 102, Exh. B). Those draw schedules separate out the “Total base contract price” from the “Options” the prospective resident gets to select. (*Id.*). The “Options” total \$37,290 (more than 11% of the base contract price) in the case of the Coleman Construction Agreement, and they total \$42,460 (more than 12% of the base contract price) in the case of the Griffith Construction Agreement. (*Id.*)

C. Agreements to Arbitrate.

If JMC Homes materially breaches the Construction Agreements, the prospective residents “shall be entitled, after giving Builder written notice of such breach and a ten (10) day period in which to substantially cure the breach, *to demand arbitration* or to terminate this Agreement in writing.” (R. p. 84, § 22(A) (emphasis added); p. 96, § 22(A) (emphasis added)). The Construction Agreements also afford JMC Homes a mutual right to arbitrate in the event of a breach of the prospective resident:

If Owner fails to timely make any payment required under this Agreement or other breach, then Builder shall be entitled after giving Owner written notice of such breach and a ten (10) day period to cure, to immediately terminate this Agreement by providing written notice to Owner of such termination or *to demand arbitration*.

. . .

(R. p. 84, § 22(B) (emphasis added); p. 96, § 22(B) (emphasis added)). The Coleman Construction Agreement further provides the following standalone arbitration provision:

24. **Binding Arbitration.** All parties to this Agreement acknowledge that, in the event any issue in law or equity arises after execution of this Agreement, same shall be resolved through binding arbitration. If the claim relates to the warranty provided by Builder and/or other claims, then the arbitration will be provided through Construction Arbitration Services, Inc. ("CAS"). The CAS arbitration will be conducted in accordance with their rules in effect at the time of the request for arbitration and the Federal Arbitration Act. All parties by entering into this agreement acknowledge that arbitration shall be the only manner of settling any issue arising after execution of this Agreement and that the results of the arbitration decision shall be binding on the parties to this Agreement. All parties to the Agreement agree to arbitrate the matter while continuing to comply with the other terms of this Agreement including proceeding to Closing, unless the parties mutually consent to a stay of further compliance with the terms of the Agreement during the period the issue is being arbitrated. In the event that an arbitration decision requires repairs or adjustments to be made by the Builder, these repairs or adjustments shall be made in accordance with the standards as outlined in the Warranty, or which are customary to generally accepted local area building industry criteria and standards in the event the Warranty is silent as to an applicable standard. The provisions of this paragraph shall survive Closing and delivery of the limited warranty deed to the Owner.

(R. p. 85, § 24). A comparable standalone arbitration provision does not appear in the Griffith Construction Agreement.

C. Procedural History

A. Plaintiffs' First Amended Complaint

On September 24, 2024, David Griffith and William Coleman as Trustee of the William Coleman Revocable Trust, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated filed a first amended putative class action complaint (the "Complaint") against the Developer Defendants and over twenty contractors or subcontractors allegedly involved in the construction of the dwelling units at Patrick Square. (R. pp. 14–38). The named contractors and subcontractors who allegedly participated in the construction of dwelling units at Patrick Square—according to the Respondents' own allegations—included entities organized in South Carolina as well as North Carolina, Georgia, Pennsylvania, and Delaware. (R. pp. 21–25, ¶¶ 28–53).

The Complaint alleges the Developer Defendants "designed, developed, constructed, marketed and sold the Plaintiffs' Residences," and it asserts various defects in the constructed dwelling units, including "failure in exterior cladding systems, inadequate framing, inadequate shingle installation, inadequate brick installation, water intrusion into and through windows, doors,

roofs and the exterior building envelope, as well as, flooding and insufficient drainage capabilities in the yards and spaces adjacent to the homes.” (R. p. 20, ¶ 20; pp. 28–29, ¶ 91). Based on these allegations, the Plaintiffs assert two causes of action against all defendants: (1) negligence and gross negligence/recklessness and (2) breach of implied warranty. (R. pp. 34–37, ¶¶ 122–139).

At the time of this appeal, the Complaint remains a putative class action that has not been certified. As a result, the only plaintiffs are David Griffith and William Coleman as Trustee of the William Coleman Revocable Trust.

B. Developer Defendants’ Motion to Compel Arbitration and Dismiss or Stay, the Trial Court’s Orders, and the Timely Notice of Appeal.

Following a notice of removal to the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina and a subsequent remand order, the Developer Defendants filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration and Dismiss or Stay (the “Motion”). (R. pp. 39–41). The Developer Defendants argued in briefing filed with the trial court that the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 1, *et seq.* (the “FAA”) compelled arbitration of the Plaintiffs’ claims because (a) the arbitration agreements are in writing, (b) the matter involves interstate commerce, and (c) the Respondents’ claims fall within the scope of the arbitration provisions. (R. pp. 46–50).

The trial court heard oral arguments on the Motion on May 7, 2025. (R. pp. 151–187). The following day on May 8, 2025, the trial court entered a Form 4 Order denying the Motion (the “Form 4 Order”). (R. pp. 1–3). And on June 30, 2025, the trial court entered a long-form Order denying the Motion (the “Order”). (R. pp. 4–13). In the Order, the trial court based its decision on four (4) separate conclusions: (1) the matter does not involve interstate commerce, rendering the FAA inapplicable; (2) the arbitration provisions in the Construction Agreements do not comply with the notice requirements of the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act (“SCUAA”), S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-48-10, *et seq.*; (3) the arbitration provisions violate South Carolina public policy

and the law set forth in *Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, 437 S.C. 596, 879 S.E.2d 746 (2022); and (4) as it relates to Respondent William Coleman as Trustee for the William Coleman Revocable Trust, there is no agreement with that entity, meaning there is no arbitration requirement to enforce. (*Id.*)

On July 15, 2025, the Developer Defendants timely appealed from the Form 4 Order and the Order. (R. pp. 147–150).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The arbitration provisions in the Construction Agreements are enforceable under the FAA because they are in writing and the parties' transaction involves interstate commerce. Not only were out-of-state contractors involved in the construction, but also labor and supplies were transported into South Carolina from out of state.

In addition, South Carolina courts consistently recognize that contracts for construction involve interstate commerce. Here, the essential character of the transactions is that of construction of single-family dwellings, as opposed to the sale of a completed residence. This is evident from the plain language of the Construction Agreements, as well as the options prospective homeowners were allowed—and in some cases expected—to make to customize the construction of their home.

The arbitration provisions in the Construction Agreements encompass the parties' dispute, despite the fact that the Respondents do not assert a claim for breach of the Construction Agreements. That is because the Respondents' claims arise from the construction of homes, and the Complaint makes repeated connections to the Construction Agreements.

Finally, the arbitration provisions are not unconscionable. As a threshold matter, the Court should first define the scope of the arbitration provision to include only Section 22(A) of the Construction Agreements and Section 24 of the Coleman Construction Agreement because these distinct, standalone provisions are not connected with any other provisions of the Construction Agreements that would require a different result under South Carolina law. Upon review of the arbitration provisions properly defined, there is no basis to deem them unconscionable because the arbitration rights are mutual, and the provisions related to the scope of arbitral issues are customary and commonplace.

Given the liberal policy favoring arbitration, coupled with this Court's obligation to resolve any doubts regarding arbitrability in favor of arbitration, the Court should conclude that the

arbitration provisions are enforceable under the FAA and that the Respondents are obligated to arbitrate their claims.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Unless parties agree otherwise, “the question of arbitrability of a claim is an issue for judicial determination.” *Dixon v. Pattee*, 442 S.C. 233, 251, 898 S.E.2d 158, 167 (Ct. App. 2023). “Determinations of arbitrability are subject to de novo review.” *Stokes v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co.*, 351 S.C. 606, 609, 571 S.E.2d 711, 713 (Ct. App. 2002); *see New Hope Missionary Baptist Church v. Paragon Builders*, 379 S.E. 620, 625, 667 S.E.2d 1, 3 (Ct. App. 2008) (“Appeal from the denial of a motion to compel arbitration is subject to de novo review.”). Where there is evidence to support them, factual findings “will not be overruled.” *Stokes*, 351 S.C. at 610, 571 S.E.2d at 713. However, where there is “no evidence to reasonably support” a factual finding made by a trial court, the appellate court on review need not be bound by it. *Deloitte & Touche, LLP v. Unisys Corp.*, 358 S.C. 179, 182 594 S.E.2d 523, 525 (Ct. App. 2004).

“[I]n deciding whether the parties have agreed to submit a particular grievance to arbitration, the court is not to rule on the potential merits of the underlying claims.” *Landers v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp.*, 402 S.C. 100, 108, 739 S.E.2d 209, 213 (2013).

ARGUMENT

I. The agreements to arbitrate contained in the Construction Agreements are enforceable under the FAA and its liberal policy favoring arbitration.

Under Section 2 of the FAA, “a contract evidencing a transaction involving commerce to settle by arbitration a controversy thereafter arising out of such contract . . . shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable.” 9 U.S.C. § 2. Courts construe this language to mean that the FAA “declares a liberal policy favoring arbitration.” *Circle S. Enters., Inc. v. Stanley Smith & Sons*, 288 S.C. 428, 430, 343 S.E.2d 45, 46 (Ct. App. 1986) (citing *Moses H. Cone Mem’l Hosp. v. Mercury Constr. Corp.*, 460 U.S. 1, 24 (1983)). Consistently, the United States Supreme Court has clarified that “questions of arbitrability must be addressed with a healthy regard for the federal

policy favoring arbitration.” *Lackey v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 330 S.C. 388, 396, 498 S.E.2d 898, 903 (Ct. App. 1998) (quoting *Moses H. Cone Mem’l Hosp.*, 460 U.S. at 24). Stated differently, “any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration, whether the problem at hand is the construction of the contract language itself or an allegation of waiver, delay, or a like defense to arbitrability.” *Lackey*, 330 S.C. at 396–97, 498 S.E.2d at 903 (quoting *Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc.*, 473 U.S. 614, 626 (1985)); *see id.* at 397 (quoting *Mitsubishi Motors Corp.*, 473 U.S. at 626 (“the parties’ intentions control, but those intentions are generously construed as to issues of arbitrability”). This judicial construction is in furtherance of the purpose of the FAA, namely to “overcome courts’ refusals to enforce agreements to arbitrate, and ensure that arbitration will proceed in the event a state law would have a preclusive effect on an otherwise valid arbitration agreement.” *Dixon*, 442 S.C. at 251, 898 S.E.2d at 167–68 (internal quotation marks omitted).

Because the arbitration provisions in the Construction Agreements are in writing, and because the transactions contemplated by the Construction Agreements evidence a transaction involving interstate commerce, the arbitration provisions are enforceable. *See Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 336, 827 S.E.2d 167, 173 (2019) (setting forth two requirements).

A. The arbitration agreements are in writing.

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