RECEIVED

Jul 17 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Jessica A. Salvini, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001404
Circuit Court Case No. 2024-CP-39-00465

David Griffith and William Coleman, as Trustee of the William Coleman Revocable Trust,
individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated, Respondents,
v.

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

ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY

I. There is no policy in South Carolina “favoring” arbitration, and Appellants opened the door to facts that extend beyond the Griffith and Coleman Contracts.

At the outset, it is appropriate to address two points raised by Appellants. First, beginning with their first argument heading, Appellants contend Respondents’ claims must be submitted to arbitration because of a “liberal policy favoring arbitration.” (App. Br., p. 11). Recognizing there is ample commentary about this in our appellate history, our Supreme Court recently clarified that there is no such policy in South Carolina. *Palmetto Constr. Grp., LLC v. Restoration Specialists, LLC*, 432 S.C. 633, 639, 856 S.E.2d 150, 153 (2021) (“There is, however, no public policy—federal or state—‘favoring’ arbitration.”).

Second, in Section IV.B. of their initial brief, Appellants contend, “this Court should limit its review to the narrow issue before it: whether the arbitration provisions in the Coleman [Contract] and the Griffith [Contract] require the only two defendants (sic)⁵ in this case to arbitrate

⁵ Ostensibly, this reference to “defendants” was intended to mean the “plaintiffs” instead, although this same characterization appears earlier in Appellant’s Section IV.B. as well.

the claims they have asserted against [Appellants].”). (App. Br., p. 32-33). Appellants brought this appeal before the circuit court considered class certification. Ostensibly, Appellants wish to avoid discussion of the systemic problems throughout the Subdivision and the terms of *other* contracts in the Subdivision. However, Appellants do not practice what they preach.

For starters, Appellants opened the door to evidence outside of the Griffith and Coleman Contracts through Jim Barr’s Affidavit, which they filed in support their motion to compel arbitration. **(ROA pp. 189-192)**. Rather than limiting his Affidavit to personal knowledge of narrowly tailored facts concerning the defective homes sold to Griffith and Coleman, Barr went further. He offered that Appellants constructed approximately 236 out of the approximately 265 homes in the Subdivision and added that Appellants’ “standard procedure . . . during the time in which these [236] homes were constructed” was to request that homeowners agree to arbitrate construction-related disputes. **(ROA p. 191, ¶¶ 7, 9)**. Barr went so far as to state that arbitration agreements were included “in each” of the hundreds of homeowners’ agreements. **(ROA p. 191, ¶ 9)**. Plainly intending to raise facts that extend well beyond the Griffith and Coleman Contracts, he stated that “JMC Homes of SC entered substantially similar construction agreements **with the other proposed Plaintiffs in the class**” and that these contracts “contain substantially similar arbitration provisions to the Coleman [Contract] and the Griffith [Contract].” **(ROA p. 191, ¶¶ 12, 13)**.⁶

For what it is worth, Respondents agree that this appeal could have focused on just the Griffith and Coleman Contracts. However, when Appellants opened this door, they welcomed Respondents to enter. In addition to Griffith’s Contract, the record contains contracts from two

⁶ Although neither provision should be enforced, it is notable in light of Barr’s statements that the arbitration provisions in the Griffith and Coleman Contracts differ materially from one another.

additional owners, Rozendale and Donahue, neither of which contains a provision similar to Paragraph 24 in Coleman's Contract. **(ROA pp. 85, 97, 110, 118)**. This casts serious doubt on Appellant's suggestion that "Paragraph 24 – Binding Arbitration" was regularly required within the Subdivision. **(ROA p. 191, ¶¶ 12, 13)**.

Regardless, it is long-standing and well-settled law that a party cannot be compelled to arbitrate unless it has agreed to submit its claims to arbitration. *See Simmons v. Lucas & Stubbs Assocs., Ltd.*, 283 S.C. 326, 333, 322 S.E.2d 467, 470 (Ct. App 1984). Because the Griffith Contract and the Coleman Contract treat arbitration differently, each contract is afforded its own review. For the several reasons explained herein, the result below should be affirmed, and neither Griffith nor Coleman should be compelled to arbitration.

II. The trial court was correct to deny Appellants' motion to compel Griffith to arbitration, because his contract contains no provision requiring the arbitration of his claims.

The Supreme Court of South Carolina has repeatedly instructed that, "Arbitration rests on the agreement of the parties, and the range of issues that can be arbitrated is restricted by the terms of the agreement." *Zabinski*, 346 S.C. at 596-97, 553 S.E.2d at 118. "Arbitration is a matter of contract, and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed to submit." *Id.* at 597, 553 S.E.2d 118; *see also Vestry & Church Wardens of the Church of the Holy Cross v. Orkin Exterminating Co.*, 356 S.C. 202, 206-07, 588 S.E.2d 136, 138 (Ct. App. 2003); "Arbitration agreements, like other contracts, are enforceable in accordance with their terms." *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 539, 542 S.E.2d 360, 364 (2001).

A. Paragraph 22 of Griffith's Contract does not grant Appellants the right to demand that he arbitrate the claims he asserted against them.

The only mention of arbitration found anywhere in Mr. Griffith's contract is found in Paragraph 22, which is narrow in scope and separately explains when Griffith could demand arbitration (under Paragraph 22(A)) from when Appellants could do so (under Paragraph 22(B)).

Paragraph 22(A) afforded Griffith the right in limited circumstances to demand arbitration or terminate the agreement if Appellants breached the contract. It is undisputed that Griffith has not demanded arbitration, nor has he asserted a claim for breach of contract. Thus, the rights *Griffith* possessed under Paragraph 22(A) are not at issue in this appeal. Rather, Appellants are the ones claiming a right to force *him* to arbitrate. Thus, Paragraph 22(B), governs what rights to demand arbitration Appellants reserved for themselves, and they are limited.

By its plain, unambiguous terms, Paragraph 22(B) does not grant Appellants the right to demand that Griffith submit his own claims against them to arbitration. Paragraph 22(B) states:

Paragraph 22(B): “**Builder's Rights:** *If [Griffith] fails to timely make any payment required under this Agreement or other breach, then Builder shall be entitled after giving [Griffith] written notice of such breach and a ten (10) day period to cure, to immediately terminate this Agreement by providing written notice to [Griffith] of such termination or to demand arbitration.*

(ROA pp. 96, ¶ 22) (underline and bold italics added).

Paragraph 22(B) affords Appellants the limited right to demand arbitration only where Appellants believe *Griffith* breached the contract—a setting where Appellants would be on offense, not defense. That is opposite the facts here. Appellants have not asserted, nor can they assert at this point, a claim that Griffith failed to make a payment or otherwise breached the contract.⁷ It is undisputed that Griffith paid the purchase price for his home, took title and

⁷ Nor can Appellants claim Griffith breached the contract by not exercising his right to demand arbitration when he asserted claims against them for negligence and breach of implied warranties (not breach of contract) years after purchasing the home. Paragraph 22(B) does not entitle Appellants to dictate how Griffith proceeds against Appellants for their wrongs. It was intended to

possession of it, fully performed, and did not breach his contract. For this simple, undisputed reason, the rights Appellants reserved under Paragraph 22(B) do not apply to this case.

Because Paragraph 22 is the sole source of arbitration rights in the Griffith Contract, and neither of its subparts applies here, the trial court's finding that Appellants cannot compel Griffith to arbitrate his claims should be affirmed. *Zabinski*, 346 at 596-97, 553 S.E.2d at 118 (observing "a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed to submit"); *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 420-21, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000) (citing Rule 220(c), SCACR, and noting that "an appellate court may affirm the lower court's judgment for any reason appearing in the record on appeal."). There is more.

B. Paragraph 22 does not apply to claims arising after completion of the closing and transfer of the Residence to Griffith.

Paragraph 22 applies to disputes arising between Griffith and Appellants before Griffith paid in full for his new home and took possession. Several facts establish this intent. First, once Griffith paid for the home and took possession, he owed no further payment or performance obligations to Appellants. Once he fully performed—which is not in dispute—Paragraph 22(B) became inoperable. Paragraph 22(C) sheds additional light on this point, wherein Appellants reserved the right in the event of Griffith's breach (again, there was not one) to seek the remedy of specific performance. Hypothetically, had that occurred, once Griffith performed, Appellants' remedies under Paragraph 22 would have been fulfilled. That is how things stand today.

Because Griffith performed, it would be impossible for either party to now exercise their alternative right under Paragraph 22 to terminate the contract in the event of the other's uncured breach. The fact that this now-moot alternative remedy was coextensive with the right to demand

allow Appellants to compel Griffith to Arbitration *if he had breached the contract*, but he did not, nor has it been alleged by Appellants that he did.

arbitration in the event of a breach of the contract by the other party reveals that Paragraph 22 was not intended to apply post-closing, much less to claims arising years later. For this additional reason, Paragraph 22(B) cannot form the basis of a right for Appellants to demand arbitration in this case. *Zabinski*, 346 S.C. at 596-97, 553 S.E.2d at 118 (noting “the range of issues that can be arbitrated is restricted by the terms of the agreement.”); *Munoz*, 343 S.C. at 539, 542 S.E.2d at 364 (“Arbitration agreements, like other contracts, are enforceable in accordance with their terms.”).

C. Whatever rights may at some point have existed under Paragraph 22, they were extinguished by the merger doctrine.

Under the merger doctrine, “[t]he execution, delivery, and acceptance of a deed varying from the terms of the antecedent contract indicates an amendment of the original contract, and generally the rights of the parties are fixed by their expressions as contained in the deed.” *Wilson v. Landstrom*, 281 S.C. 260, 264, 315 S.E.2d 130, 132-33 (Ct. App. 1984) (quoting *Charleston & W. Carolina Ry. Co. v. Joyce*, 231 S.C. 493, 504-05, 99 S.E.2d 187, 193 (1957)). “A deed executed subsequent to the making of an executory contract for the sale of land supersedes that contract...” *Wilson*, 281 S.C. at 264, 315 S.E.2d at 133 (quoting *Charleston & W. Carolina Ry. Co.*, 231 S.C. at 504-05, 99 S.E.2d at 193). Nowhere in Griffith’s deed is there any reference to arbitration of claims. **(ROA pp. 125-128)**. Under the merger doctrine, Griffith’s deed controls over any language his prior contract that governed the parties’ rights up until closing. This is fatal in the absence of language demonstrating a contrary intent.

While it is true that when parties intend for antecedent agreements to survive, those terms will not be merged into the deed, it is also true that “[t]he party denying merger has the burden of proving **by clear and convincing evidence** that merger was not intended.” *Carlson v. S.C. State Plastering, LLC*, 404 S.C. 250, 260-61, 743 S.E.2d 868, 874 (Ct. App. 2013). Here, that high burden rests with Appellants, and they failed to meet it.

In *Carlson*, this Court held the parties did not intend for the arbitration clause to be superseded by the subsequently-executed deed where the purchase agreement provided: “The covenants, disclaimers and agreements contained in this Agreement **shall not be deemed to be merged into or waived by the instruments executed at Closing, but shall expressly survive the Closing and continue to be binding upon both parties.**” *Id.* at 261, 743 S.E.2d at 874 (emphasis added). Further, the arbitration clause at issue also states that “[a]fter closing, every **controversy or claim** arising out of or relating to this Agreement . . . shall be settled by binding arbitration.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

Here, nothing in the text of Paragraph 22 reveals an intent that its provisions should survive closing. Not only does this lend validity to the point above about Paragraph 22 only applying to alleged breaches occurring prior to closing, but it also proves Appellants cannot meet their clear and convincing evidentiary burden to show merger was not intended.

Although the focus here is on the Griffith Contract, reference to the Coleman Contract is enlightening. Paragraph 24 of the Coleman Contract *does attempt* to avoid the merger doctrine, stating “the **provisions of this paragraph⁸ shall survive Closing** and delivery of the limited warranty deed to the Owner.” Clearly aware of the merger doctrine, Appellants took steps to try and avoid it with respect to Paragraph 24 in Coleman’s Contract.⁹ However, Paragraph 24, in the

⁸ The reference to “this paragraph” means Paragraph 24 in the Coleman Contract. Paragraph 24 in the Coleman Contract also states that “arbitration shall be the only manner of **settling any issue arising after execution of this Agreement . . .**” (ROA p. 85, ¶ 24) (emphasis added). This is language that shows an intent to avoid merger. *Carlson*, 404 S.C. at 261, 743 S.E.2d at 874 (finding a provision that states, “[a]fter closing, every **controversy or claim** arising out of or relating to this Agreement . . . **shall be settled by binding arbitration**” was not precluded by the merger doctrine) (emphasis added).

⁹ For that matter, in Paragraph 25 of Griffith’s Contract, Appellants used a survival clause to preserve their right following substantial completion to obtain and use photographs of Griffith’s Lot and Residence for promotional purposes, proving Appellants knew how to protect such rights

form found in Coleman's Contract, exists nowhere in Griffith's Contract, and neither Coleman's Contract nor Griffith's Contract includes survival language in their respective and identical Paragraphs 22. By including survival language in Paragraph 24 of the Coleman Contract, but omitting such language from Paragraph 22 of both contracts, the evidence in the record supports only one result, *to wit*, that Paragraph 22 was not intended to survive closing. *Evins v. Richland Cty. Historic Pres. Comm'n*, 341 S.C. 15, 19, 532 S.E.2d 876, 878 (2000) (observing that under the "maxim of *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*, expression of one thing is exclusion of another" and where certain things are specified in a contract, "an intention to exclude all others from its operation may be inferred").

In light of the foregoing points and authorities, the trial judge was correct to deny Appellants' motion to compel arbitration of the claims asserted by Griffith. This Court should affirm that result because Paragraph 22 never afforded a right for Appellants to demand arbitration of claims asserted against them, Griffith never agreed to submit his present claims to arbitration, and whatever rights Appellants once had under Paragraph 22, they expired upon Griffith's full performance and were extinguished by the merger doctrine.

III. The "Binding Arbitration" agreement in Coleman's Contract is unenforceable because it is unconscionable.

Before addressing the unconscionability of the additional arbitration agreement in Coleman's Contract, we first incorporate in full the preceding arguments raised above that focus on Paragraph 22, which is identical in both Griffith's and Coleman's Contracts. Paragraph 22 does not entitle Appellants to demand arbitration of Coleman's claims for same reasons that it does not allow Appellants to compel arbitration of the claims asserted by Griffith.

from the merger doctrine. No such language is found in Paragraph 22. Coleman's Contract contains the same reference in Paragraph 26.

However, unlike Griffith's Contract (and others in the record),¹⁰ the Coleman Contract contains a different Paragraph 24, entitled "Binding Arbitration," inviting further analysis. The Arbitration agreement contained in Paragraph 24 of Coleman's Contract should not be enforced because of inseparably intertwined one-sided and oppressive terms that render the arbitration agreement unconscionable and against public policy.

A. The Coleman Contract is a contract of adhesion, and he lacked meaningful choice to negotiate its one-sided and oppressive terms, including the arbitration agreement.

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